IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

ALLEN KIRZHNER,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

VS.

SUPREME COURT FILED

MAY **07** 2018

MERCEDES BENZ USA LLC,

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Defendant and Respondent.

Deputy

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA COUNTY OF ORANGE HON. JAMES J. DI CESARE (CASE NUMBER 30-2014-00744604)

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ANDERSON LAW FIRM

*MARTIN W. ANDERSON (STATE BAR NO. 178422) 2070 NORTH TUSTIN AVENUE SANTA ANA, CALIFORNIA 92705 TEL: (714) 516-2700 • FAX: (714) 532-4700

E-MAIL: MARTIN@ANDERSONLAW.NET

ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFF AND APPELLANT
ALLEN KIRZHNER

(COUNSEL CONTINUED ON NEXT PAGE)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

ALLEN KIRZHNER,

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

(Quoted from the Petition for Review)

California's Consumer Warranty Act (also known as "the lemon law") provides that if a manufacturer of a motor vehicle is unable to repair a vehicle under warranty within a reasonable number of attempts, it must repurchase or replace that consumer's vehicle. (Civ. Code, § 1793.2, subd. (d)(2).)

When the consumer elects to have his lemon vehicle repurchased, the manufacturer must "make restitution in an amount equal to the actual price paid or payable by the buyer, including any charges for transportation and manufacturer-installed options, but excluding nonmanufacturer items installed by a dealer or the buyer, and including any collateral charges such as sales or use tax, license fees, registration fees, and other official fees, plus any incidental damages to which the buyer is entitled under Section 1794, including, but not limited to, reasonable repair, towing, and rental car costs actually incurred by the buyer." (Civ. Code, § 1793.2, subd. (d)(2)(B) [emphasis added].)

Both this Court and the Courts of Appeal have consistently concluded that the Consumer Warranty Act is intended to put the consumer in the same position as if he had never purchased the defective vehicle and should be broadly construed in favor of the consumer. (*Mitchell v. Blue Bird Body Co.* (2000) 80 Cal.App.4th 32, 36 [repurchase remedy is "intended to restore the *status quo ante* as far as is practicable."]; *Murillo v. Fleetwood Enterprises, Inc.* (1998) 17 Cal.4th 985, 990 [CWA "is manifestly a remedial measure, intended for the protection of the consumer; it should be given a construction calculated to bring its benefits into action.".].)

This case presents this Court with the opportunity to settle two extremely important questions that arise in virtually every single lemon law case.

First, when an automobile manufacturer repurchases a consumer's vehicle, is the manufacturer obligated to reimburse "any . . . registration fees" paid by the consumer, as stated in the plain language of subdivision (d)(2)(B) of Civil Code section 1793.2, or merely the first year's registration fees, as concluded by the Court of Appeal in its published decision? (Typ. Op., p. 2)

Second, when the manufacturer refuses to repurchase or replace the vehicle and a consumer must file a lawsuit, are the "incidental damages to which the buyer is entitled under Section 1794" limited to "cost[s] incurred as a result of a vehicle being defective" as the Court of Appeal concluded, or are incidental damages permitted for expenses incurred as a result of the manufacturer's violation of the statutory command, i.e. its refusal to repurchase or replace the vehicle as required by subdivision (d)(2) of section 1793.2? (Typ. Op., p. 10.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

When an automobile manufacturer repurchases a consumer's vehicle, the manufacturer must compute the amount due by adding all of the registration fees that were actually paid or payable by the buyer during his ownership of the vehicle under subdivision (d)(2)(B) of section 1793.2. (See Part I.E.1 and II.A. of this brief, below.)

Alternatively, when the manufacturer refuses to repurchase or replace a vehicle and a buyer is forced to file a lawsuit, the "incidental damages to which the buyer is entitled under Section 1794" are not limited to "cost[s] incurred as a result of a vehicle being defective" as the Court of Appeal concluded. Rather, incidental damages are permitted for expenses incurred as a result of the manufacturer's violation of the statutory

command, i.e. its refusal to repurchase or replace the vehicle as required by subdivision (d)(2) of section 1793.2. (See Part II.B. of this brief, below.)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. <u>Defendant violates California law by failing to repurchase or replace a defective vehicle that cannot be repaired after a reasonable number of attempts</u>

On June 16, 2012, Plaintiff Allen Kirzhner leased a 2012 Mercedes-Benz C250 automobile that was distributed by Defendant Mercedes-Benz USA LLC. (Appellant's Appendix, p. 38, ¶ 2 (hereafter "AA ##"); AA 2, ¶ 4.) Under the terms of the lease, Plaintiff made a \$1,867.58 down payment and agreed to make 33 payments of \$489.98 over the life of the lease. (AA 38, ¶ 2.)

In addition, Plaintiff incurred a legal obligation to register the vehicle with the Department of Motor Vehicles and to renew the registration (or register the vehicle as non-operational) annually until he sold the vehicle. (Veh. Code, § 4150; Veh. Code, § 4601.) In accordance with that legal obligation, the lease agreement included a \$101.00 charge for the registration fee covering the period from June 16, 2012, to June 15, 2013. (AA 38, ¶ 2; AA 52, § 5.a.6.)

When he leased the vehicle, Plaintiff received an express written warranty from Defendant. (AA 2, \P 5.) After the lease commenced, Plaintiff enjoyed approximately two months of trouble-free use of the vehicle. (AA 59, l. 17-18 [Defendant admits that "Plaintiff first lodged warranty-related complaints on August 3, 2002 [sic: 2012] with 3,947 miles on the odometer"]; AA 70, ll. 12-14.) Thereafter, the vehicle experienced a number of defects that Defendant was unable to repair within a reasonable number of repair attempts. (AA 2, \P 6; AA 7, \P 30.)

Pursuant to subdivision (d)(2) of Civil Code section 1793.2, Defendant had a legal obligation to repurchase or replace Plaintiff's vehicle, but it refused to comply with that obligation. (AA 7, \P 30.)

In June of 2013, Plaintiff paid \$356 to renew the vehicle's registration for the period from June 16, 2013, to June 15, 2014. (AA 38, ¶ 7.) In June of 2014, Plaintiff paid \$305 to renew the vehicle's registration for the period from June 16, 2014, to June 15, 2015. (*Id.*)

B. <u>Plaintiff sues Defendant alleging several different claims</u>

On September 11, 2014, Plaintiff filed this action against Defendant Mercedes-Benz USA, LLC in the Orange County Superior Court. (AA 1.) Among other things, Plaintiff's Complaint alleged:

- 1. That Defendant had violated its obligation to <u>promptly</u> repurchase or replace Plaintiff's defective vehicle after a reasonable number of warranty attempts had failed, as it was required to under subdivision (d)(2) of Civil Code section 1793.2. (AA 7, ¶ 30; *See* Part I.D.1. of this brief, below.)
- 2. That Defendant breached its obligation to correct the defects as required by the terms of the express written warranty that Defendant provided to Plaintiff. (AA 6; *See* Part I.D.2 of this brief, below.)
- 3. That Defendant breached the implied warranty of merchantability that arose in connection with the vehicle because the vehicle was defective at the time it was sold or within one year thereafter. (AA 2-4; *See* Part I.D.4 of this brief, below.)

On October 8, 2014, instead of complying with its obligation to repurchase or replace Plaintiff's vehicle and instead of admitting that it had breached both its express and the legally implied warranties governing the vehicle, Defendant generally denied all of Plaintiff's claims. (AA 11-15.)

C. <u>Defendant finally agrees to comply with the law and to</u>
repurchase Plaintiff's vehicle, but then refuses to comply with
the agreement

Defendant litigated the case for approximately six months. However, on March 2, 2015, Defendant finally agreed to comply with its repurchase obligations under subdivision (d)(2) of Civil Code section 1793.2. On that date, Defendant sent an Offer of Judgment allowing Judgment to be entered in Plaintiff's favor. (AA 18-19.)

In relevant part, Defendant's Offer of Judgment provided that "[p]ursuant to California Civil Code § 1793.2(d)(2)(B), in exchange for the subject vehicle, MBUSA offers to make restitution in an amount equal to the actual price **paid or payable** by the Plaintiff . . . including **any** collateral charges such as . . . **registration fees**, and other official fees, plus any incidental damages to which the buyer is entitled under Section 1794 . . . all to be determined by court motion if the parties cannot agree." (AA 18:25-19:5 [emphasis added].) Notably, the quoted words (above) are identical to the repurchase remedy afforded to buyers under subdivision (d)(2)(B) of Civil Code section 1793.2. (Civ. Code, § 1793.2, subd. (d)(2)(B).)

Plaintiff accepted the offer on April 2, 2015, filed the Notice of Acceptance on April 21, 2015, and the Superior Court entered Judgment in Plaintiff's favor on all of the claims asserted in the Complaint on May 15, 2015. (AA 16-17; AA 23.)

Unfortunately, Defendant and its counsel were even less diligent about paying what they had agreed to pay than they were about offering to pay it in the first place. (AA 33-37.) As a result of Defendant's counsel's dilatory tactics, Plaintiff would wait another *six months* before receiving the restitution that Defendant was legally obligated to "promptly" offer him

under subdivision (d)(2) of Civil Code section 1793.2. (AA 174-175; AA 163, \P 1-2.)

For seven weeks after accepting the Offer of Judgment, Plaintiff's counsel repeatedly called and sent multiple emails to Defendant's counsel in an attempt to coordinate payment, but Defendant's counsel refused to cooperate. (AA 33-37.) In total, Plaintiff's counsel made ten telephone calls to Defendant's counsel's office, but none were returned. (AA 33, ¶¶ 5, 6.)

Both before and after accepting Defendant's Offer of Judgment, Plaintiff's counsel sent multiple emails to Defendant's counsel in an attempt to reach agreement on the amounts due. (AA 33-37.) Defendant's counsel ignored most of the emails as well, but when he did respond, he falsely claimed that Plaintiff had "refus[ed] to provide the information" necessary to finish the case. (AA 35, ¶ 16, ¶ 17.) Plaintiff's counsel ultimately became so desperate to get the case finished that he begged Defendant's counsel to simply "send a check immediately for whatever you claim that you owe." (AA 35, ¶ 17.) Like most of Plaintiff's emails, Defendant ignored that one as well. (AA 35, ¶ 18.)

D. <u>Plaintiff asks the Court to order Defendant to reimburse his</u> damages

On May 28, 2015, after waiting seven weeks for Defendant to pay what it owed under the Offer of Judgment (or any amount for that matter), Plaintiff filed a motion asking the Superior Court to determine the amount that was due to Plaintiff pursuant to Defendant's Offer of Judgment. (AA 28.)

Among other things, Plaintiff requested that the Superior Court require Defendant to reimburse the registration fees that he paid in 2013 and 2014, and the non-operational fee that Plaintiff paid in June of 2015.

(AA 32; AA 38, ¶ 7 ["In 2013, I paid \$356 to renew the vehicle registration. In 2014, I paid \$305 for registration on the vehicle. The next registration payment will be due in June of 2015, and I do not yet know the amount that will be due at that time. Because I am no longer driving the vehicle, I plan to obtain a Certificate of Planned Non-Operation instead of renewing the registration and the charge for the CPNO is \$19."].)

Plaintiff's motion explained that Plaintiff was entitled to recover registration fees either as part of the amount paid or payable or as incidental damages, both of which were authorized by subdivision (d)(2)(B) of Civil Code section 1794. (AA 32.)

In opposition to the motion, Defendant had the opportunity to request that Plaintiff's damages be offset using a statutory formula. Among other things, the formula assumes that a vehicle's useful lifespan is approximately 120,000 miles and requires the buyer to pay for his use of the vehicle up to the first repair attempt. (Civ. Code, § 1793.2, subd. (d)(2)(C).)

However, Defendant failed to submit any admissible evidence to support the offset, and so the Court was unable to award the Defendant an offset in this case. (AA 166-167 [Tentative ruling states that "Defendant has not proven up the amount of the mileage offset, which is therefore denied."]; AA 173 [Order adopting Tentative Ruling with modifications unrelated to this issue].)

On August 28, 2015 (almost a year after the lawsuit was filed), the Superior Court signed a formal order awarding Plaintiff's damages. (AA 174-175; AA 163, ¶¶ 1-2.) However, even though the Offer of Judgment and subdivision (d)(2)(B) explicitly authorized Plaintiff to recover "registration fees," the Superior Court only awarded Plaintiff the registration fee that he paid when he purchased the vehicle. (*Id.*)

E. Plaintiff appeals and requests that the Court of Appeal direct the Superior Court to award his registration fees and non-operational fees for 2013, 2014, and 2015

On September 11, 2015, Plaintiff appealed. On appeal, Plaintiff explained that the post-sale registration fees and non-operational fee were recoverable on two theories.

First, under subdivision (d)(2)(B) of Civil Code section 1793.2, the manufacturer was required to "make restitution [... of ...] any collateral charges such as . . . registration fees." Nothing in that section indicates that "registration fees" are limited to the registration fee paid for the very first year of ownership.

Second, even if the registration fees that Plaintiff paid in 2013, 2014, and 2015 were not recoverable as "registration fees," Plaintiff's brief explained that he was still entitled to recover them pursuant to the Offer of Judgment and subdivision (d)(2)(B) of Civil Code section 1793.2 as "any incidental damages to which the buyer is entitled under Section 1794" (AA 18-19, ¶ 1; Civ. Code, § 1793.2, subd. (d)(2)(B).)

F. The Unpublished Decision of the Court of Appeal

On November 27, 2017, the Court of Appeal affirmed the Superior Court's conclusions. Even though the Offer of Judgment and subdivision (d)(2)(B) explicitly authorized Plaintiff to recover "registration fees," the Court of Appeal concluded that Plaintiff was only entitled to recover the registration fee that he paid when he purchased the vehicle. (Typ. Op., p. 2, ¶3 [emphasis added].) Among other things, the Court of Appeal stated that "section 1793.2(b)(2)(B) does not require payment of vehicle registration renewal fees and related costs <u>incurred</u> after the initial purchase or lease." (*Id* [emphasis added].)

The Court of Appeal also concluded that the "incidental damages" authorized by subdivision (d)(2)(B) of section 1793.2 should be limited to "cost[s] incurred as a result of a vehicle being defective," even though nothing in the statute indicates such a limitation and even though the relevant statutes say just the opposite. (Typ. Op., p. 6, 1.)

Although the Court's Opinion was initially unpublished, the Court of Appeal received several letters from attorneys purporting to represent automobile manufacturer interests requesting publication, and on December 13, 2017, the Court of Appeal published the Opinion. (*See* Court of Appeal Docket, entries dated 12/11/2017, 12/12/2017, and 12/13/2017.)

G. This Court grants review on February 21, 2018

On February 21, 2018, this Court granted Appellant's Petition for Review of the Court of Appeal's decision.

As we will explain, the Court of Appeal's Opinion affirming the Superior Court's ruling was error and should be reversed.

DISCUSSION

I. AN OVERVIEW OF THE SONG-BEVERLY CONSUMER WARRANTY ACT

In 1970, the California Legislature enacted the Song-Beverly Consumer Warranty Act ("the CWA"). (Civ. Code, § 1790.) The CWA was (and remains) one of the strongest and most important consumer protections laws in our nation.

The CWA comprises forty-eight sections, many with multiple subdivisions, that often refer back and forth to one another. (Civ. Code, § 1790 to 1795.8.) An unfortunate consequence of this complexity is that courts sometimes confuse the requirements or damages allowed by one

provision with those allowed or disallowed by others. Indeed, it appears that the Court of Appeal did so in this case.

In order to avoid that confusion, Plaintiff will begin with a brief overview of the CWA as it relates to the claims asserted in this case.

A. The CWA applies to all manner of Consumer Goods and provides additional protections to New Motor Vehicles

Contrary to popular belief, the CWA is not merely an "automobile lemon law." Rather, the CWA provides a comprehensive set of rights and remedies for consumers who buy any kind of "consumer good." (Civ. Code, § 1791, subd. (a) [defining "consumer good"; Civ. Code § 1794, subd. (a) [giving buyer of consumer good the right to sue in various circumstances].)

In addition to the extensive protections for "consumer goods," the Legislature also added a few additional protections for consumers who buy "new motor vehicles." (Civ. Code, § 1793.22, subd. (e)(2) [defining new motor vehicle]; Civ. Code § 1793.2(d)(2) [creating separate repurchase or replace obligation for "new motor vehicles" as compared to the repurchase or replace obligation for "consumer goods" contained in subdivision (d)(1) of that section]; Civ. Code, § 1793.22(a) [creating a separate presumption for consumers whose new motor vehicles cannot be repaired].)

B. The CWA is intended to benefit the consumer and should be construed in accordance with that purpose

The CWA "is manifestly a remedial measure, intended for the protection of the consumer; it should be given a construction calculated to bring its benefits into action." (*Murillo v. Fleetwood Enterprises, Inc.* (1998) 17 Cal.4th 985, 990.) "The Act is a remedial measure intended for the protection of consumers and should be given a construction consistent

with that purpose." (*Oregel v. American Isuzu Motors, Inc.* (2001) 90 Cal.App.4th 1094, 1103.)

C. The CWA's provisions are not waivable, are intended to be more protective than the protections offered by the Commercial Code, and provide remedies that are cumulative to one another

The Legislature's intent regarding the CWA is evidenced by the contents of the first four substantive provisions. Among them, the Legislature provided that (1) any purported waiver of the benefits of the CWA was "contrary to public policy and shall be unenforceable and void" (Civ. Code, § 1790.1), (2) the CWA's provisions do not affect the rights and remedies afforded by the Commercial Code, except that the CWA prevails over any contrary provisions in the Commercial Code (Civ. Code, § 1790.3), and (3) the CWA's remedies are "cumulative" to one another and "shall not be construed as restricting any remedy that is otherwise available" (Civ. Code, § 1790.4.).

D. The CWA creates dozens of potential claims

The centerpiece of the CWA is the provision that authorizes consumers to file lawsuits to enforce its provisions ("CWA Enabling Provision"). Contained at subdivision (a) of Civil Code section 1794, the CWA Enabling Provision provides that:

Any buyer of consumer goods who is damaged by a failure to comply with [1] any obligation under this chapter or under an [2] implied or [3] express warranty or [4] service contract may bring an action for the recovery of damages and other legal and equitable relief.

(Civ. Code, § 1794, subd. (a) [brackets added and used in discussion below].)

This provision is often misunderstood by persons who are unfamiliar with the CWA, and so it was with the Court of Appeal in this case. The CWA does not create a single claim arising out of a defective vehicle; rather, the CWA Enabling Provision creates dozens of potential claims and creates different remedies depending upon the particular claim that is asserted.

1. [1] [A]ny obligation under this chapter

In the first clause of the CWA Enabling Provision, the Legislature granted buyers the right to sue whenever they were damaged by a violation of "[1] any obligation under this chapter." (Civ. Code, § 1794, subd. (a).) The CWA contains numerous provisions that can be the subject of this type of claim, but the most commonly alleged violations are the claims that appear in Civil Code section 1793.2.

None of the claims contained in section 1793.2 are based upon a direct breach of a warranty; rather, each is based upon a statutory obligation that the CWA imposes upon warrantors ("CWA Warranty Derivative Obligations"). The CWA imposes Warranty Derivative Obligations on anyone² who issues a warranty on consumer goods sold in California. Among other things:

¹ A substantial portion of Plaintiff's counsel's time is now spent attempting to protect the CWA by writing depublication letters to Courts of Appeal that incorrectly conflate the elements or remedies available on one of these claims with the elements and/or remedies available on the others.

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