# IN THE

# SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

# SUPREME COURT FILED

JUL 2 5 2018

### ALLEN KIRZHNER

Plaintiff and Appellant,

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

v.

# MERCEDES-BENZ USA, LLC

Defendant and Respondent.

FROM A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT DIVISION THREE CASE NUMBER G052551

# RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

# UNIVERSAL & SHANNON, LLP

Jon. D. Universal, Esq. (SBN 141255) James P. Mayo, Esq. (SBN 169897) 2240 Douglas Blvd., #290 Roseville, California 95661 Tel: 916.780.4050

Fax: 916.780.9070

Attorneys for Defendant and Respondent

MERCEDES-BENZ USA, LLC

# IN THE

## SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

# **ALLEN KIRZHNER**

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

# **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

This is really a simple case of statutory construction of this single statute which is clear and unambiguous. Appellant never challenged otherwise in the courts below.

First, although pro-consumer, the Act manifestly does not permit anything other than restoring the buyer/lessee to the *status quo ante* in the *restitution* context.

Reimbursement for all post-sale registration fees, which are admittedly not incurred as part of the original sale *price*, and are simply incurred later, simply does not comport with the plain wording of the Act. Instead, it would effectively confer a windfall on the consumer buyer beyond what the Legislature intended.

None of the various arguments Appellant advances in his lengthy Opening Brief can change this duck, which looks, walks, quacks, and swims like one.

Appellant argued very little of the substance of his newly-minted arguments in the appellate court below (in the trial court nothing at all), but now essentially attempts to recharacterize the two limited issues in this case into something they are not. This case is not about MBUSA's *liability* under the Act. Regardless, since the statute at issue simply does not yield the answer he seeks, he instead changes the argument. That does not work. Therefore, his real goal of (not very subtly) seeking an unwarranted expansion of the Act's damages, and even *liability* should be summarily dismissed. Instead, *this case is solely limited to what damages Appellant is entitled to only under this one statute*, Civil Code section 1793.2, subd. (d)(2)(B).

Appellant cites little law in support of his novel interpretations of the Act (most of it unnecessary and inapposite), and with all due respect, it is not as complicated as he suggests to the point that the courts consistently get it wrong and only he has some prodigal savant-like insights into its true meaning no other human being can comprehend. This does not involve translation of undecipherable Egyptian hieroglyphics, or use of a Rosetta stone There is no need to dive into the Act's Legislative history for the first time here. No matter how hard he tries, neither Appellant's examples nor inapt analogies can morph this claim into something else. Instead, in the end, despite consumption of sixty (60) pages in his Opening Brief, his claim for post-sale/lease registration fees were neither part of the vehicle's sale or lease *price*.

Second, post-sale/lease registration fees alternatively cannot be "incidental damages" because it is obvious these fees were not incurred, and could not have been incurred, as a result of the breach of any warranty. The statute at issue remains bulletproof. No matter how hard Appellant now tries for a second bite of the appellate apple, even with his greatly-expanded sixty (60) page Opening Brief, including his curious and interesting attempt to fashion ambiguity into this simple statute by creating new duties having no legal support anywhere and needlessly poking into the Legislative history, he simply cannot get past the plain statutory wording the Court of Appeal needed but a few paragraphs to address.

# FACTUAL BACKGROUND/STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# A. PRELIMINARY FACTS

Appellant leased a 2012 Mercedes-Benz C250W vehicle (the "vehicle") on June 6, 2012. (AA 52-54.)<sup>1</sup>

MBUSA is a motor vehicle distributor in the state of California which expressly warranted the vehicle. (AA 2.)

Appellant filed his Complaint on September 11, 2014 alleging, *inter alia*, a cause of action for breach of express warranty under the Act, and prayed for vehicle *restitution*, plus reasonably-incurred court costs, attorney's fees and expenses. (AA 1-10.)

MBUSA filed its Answer on October 8, 2014, denying all liability. (AA 11-15.)

Almost immediately after Answering, MBUSA sought very limited discovery to ascertain Appellant's damages, which was ignored. (AA 59-60.)

# **B. SETTLEMENT OF THE CASE**

On March 2, 2015, MBUSA served Appellant with an *Amended*<sup>2</sup> Offer to Compromise under Code of Civil Procedure section 998 (the "Offer"), which stated in pertinent part as follows:

The record below consists of Appellant's Appendix filed in lieu of the Clerk's Transcript ("AA").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> An earlier repurchase offer went out almost immediately on November 19, 2014 that is not part of the Appendix because Appellant never raised such arguments in the trial court and MBUSA initially did not deem it necessary at the time. It can be provided upon request.

1. Pursuant to California Civil Code § 1793.2(d)(2)(B), in exchange for the subject vehicle, MBUSA offers to make restitution in an amount equal to the actual price paid or payable by the Plaintiff, including any charges for transportation and manufacturer-installed options, but excluding non-manufacturer items installed by a dealer or the Plaintiff, and including any collateral charges such as sales or use tax, license fees, registration fees, and other official fees, plus any incidental damages to which the buyer is entitled under Section 1794, including, but not limited to, reasonable repair, towing, and rental car costs actually incurred by the buyer, less reasonable mileage offset in accordance with Civil Code Section 1793.2(d)(2)(C), all to be determined by court motion if the parties cannot agree.

 $[\ldots]$ 

Additionally, in connection with the above alternative offers to compromise, MBUSA will pay Plaintiff a sum equal to the aggregate amount of costs and expenses, including attorney's fees based on actual time expended determined by the court to have been reasonably incurred by the buyer in connection with the commencement and prosecution of this action pursuant to Civil Code § 1794(d), to be determined by court if the parties cannot agree.

(AA 18 – 19.) The Offer's first paragraph tracked section 1793.2(d)(2)(B) of the Act and did not contain any specific monetary amounts, which could "be determined by court motion if the parties cannot agree." (AA 18-19).

Significantly, the Offer did not contain any *civil penalty* component under Civil Code section 1794, subd. (c), reflective of any possible claim Appellant might have that MBUSA "willfully" and in bad faith did not repurchase the vehicle. (AA 18-19.)

Again seeking Appellant's unknown damages, MBUSA served Appellant with another written request for itemized damages. (AA 60-61.)

Appellant accepted the Offer on April 2, 2015. (AA 16–22.)

On May 15, 2015, the trial court entered Judgment, with the accepted Offer as an exhibit. (AA 23–27.) The Judgment also contained no specific dollar amounts. (AA 23–27.)

What occurred next can only best be described as a bizarre course of conduct intended to delay and harass, and outright games playing. After acceptance of the Offer, Appellant simply demanded, without providing any information and documentation supporting any dollar amounts, that MBUSA satisfy the Judgment by stating "please send a check ASAP," completely ignoring MBUSA's repeated pleas for a specific monetary demand. (AA 34.) MBUSA also vehemently disputed the self-serving alleged summary of events provided by Appellant's counsel via declaration only, including counsel's claim of purportedly making numerous untraceable and unprovable "telephone calls" regarding negotiating a settlement. (AA 33-37; 60-62.) Instead, it was Appellant's counsel who initially engaged in this counter-productive strategy, and seemed genuinely annoyed by the entire process. (AA 33-37; 62-64.)<sup>3</sup>

Appellant's untoward strategy is further support by his "Motion for an Order Determining the Amounts Due Under Paragraph One of Defendant's 998 Offer", which was heard on July 9, 2015. (AA 28–57.) Appellant demanded MBUSA arbitrarily pay him "\$54,900.39", a figure never claimed before, and which was also more than what he prayed for in his Complaint. (AA 62-64.) And, while the Motion also contained a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Although also not part of the record because it was also not deemed necessary at the time, the delay in payment was actually due to Appellant's counsel's continued strategy of delay, harassment and games playing, including demanding the settlement checks be provide and cleared the bank before vehicle surrender, which can be provided upon request. In fact, MBUSA argued in a subsequent motion this was some of the worst conduct by opposing counsel seen in over 25 years of practice, referencing Appellant counsel's judicial reprimand for his similar litigation tactics in *Hyundai Motor America v. Superior Court* (2015) 235 Cal.App.4th 349. The "lemon law game" today is, once a case is determined to be a "winner", to delay settlement as long as possible to continue to run up the fee meter.

Declaration from Appellant himself *finally* submitting some specific monetary claims, it was still remained a puzzle which the Motion made no further attempt to clarify. (AA 38-39; 60-64). Despite his claim, the Motion had less than one page of argument which essentially said nothing, other than MBUSA was obligated to pay it. (AA 31-32.)

Appellant made no argument MBUSA breached any "repurchase obligation" the Act might impose, and he did not (and could not) allege any *civil penalty* damages. In fact, his Motion was so vague and elusive that MBUSA itself had to take an educated guess at attempting to itemize what he was likely claiming. (AA 62-63.) To this end, the Motion appeared to include the sum of \$680 for post-lease subsequent year registration payments for 2013, 2014 and 2015. (AA 28–40; 63.) Appellant also appeared to claim, *inter alia*, "vehicle insurance" in the amount of \$715 and "lost income" in the amount of \$2,752. (AA 39; 63.)

On August 28, 2015, the trial court ruled. (AA 160-168.) Preliminarily, the trial court noted Appellant had failed to itemize his claim (as MBUSA had repeatedly requested), and appreciated MBUSA efforts for taking the laboring oar to essentially do it for him:

"...Plaintiff should have laid out how he arrived at his total. The raw data is in the moving Kirzhner Declaration...but he should have illustrated the mazes of calculations that were used to arrive at the final figure...Defendant undertook the helpful task of disclosing the calculations behind's Plaintiff's figure. The Court uses Defendant's table [in its Opposition Brief]". (AA 161.)

The trial court determined, *inter alia*, that MBUSA did not owe any sum representing the post-lease subsequent year registration fees for 2013, 2014, and 2015, a

claim totaling \$680. (AA 162–164, 174–75.) Specifically, after citing the relevant statute (Civil Code § 1793.2(d)(2)(B)), the trial court stated as follows:

According to the court's independent research, the registration fees under the statute, do <u>not</u> include all registration fees that a buyer pays over the course of the lease. See *Robbins v. Hyundai Motor America* (C.D. Cal., Aug. 7, 2014) 2014 WL 4723505 at \*4; *Robertson v. Fleetwood Travel Trailers of California, Inc.* (2006) 144 Cal.App.4th 785, 813. Thus, the requested fees by plaintiff are not part of the restitution remedy. (AA 163).

The trial court also denied Appellant's claims for "vehicle insurance" and "lost income", which he never bothered to appeal. (AA 159-169.)<sup>4</sup>

Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal on September 1, 2015. (AA 176-178.)

# C. THE APPEAL

At the Court of Appeal, Appellant's Opening Brief arguments consisted of only five (5) full pages. On both issues, he conceded that nothing more than simple statutory construction was at issue. He referenced the Act, made a brief reference to the California Commercial Code, and cited three California cases but provided no Legislative history.

In response, MBUSA advanced ostensibly the very same straightforward arguments the Court later adopted in its terse six (6) page Opinion.

# D. THE COURT OF APPEAL'S OPINION

The Court of Appeal issued its unpublished Opinion on November 27, 2017.5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> MBUSA did claim a mileage offset pursuant to Civil Code section 1793.2(d)(2)(c). The trial court denied it not because MBUSA had no such legal entitlement, but only because it failed to prove it adequately.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See Exhibit 1 to this Answering Brief.

First, the Court of Appeal simply interpreted the "wording and structure of the statute," concluding that post-sale/lease registration fees did not constitute part of "the actual price paid or payable by the buyer" as Civil Code § 1793.2(d)(2)(B) defined, and also, that the only "collateral charge" representing registration fees associated with that phrase were the fees paid when the vehicle was initially purchased or leased. (Opinion at page 5.)

Second, in a similar exercise of statutory construction, the Court of Appeal easily concluded that such post sale/lease registration fees are not the same types of specifically-described damages ("reasonable repair, towing and rental car costs") which must be "the result of" the warranty's breach. (Opinion at page 5.) Instead, it classified such registration fees as the "standard cost of owning any vehicle" and was concerned that this would otherwise open up a "Pandora's box" of potential costs for which a manufacturer would need to pay in lemon law cases, such as "costs for gas, car washes, oil changes". (Opinion at pages 5-6.) The Act simply provides nothing else.

The Court of Appeal subsequently issued an order certifying the Opinion for publication on December 13, 2017.<sup>6</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See Exhibit 2 to this Answering Brief.

## **ARGUMENT**

A. THE COURT OF APPEAL RULED CORRECTLY IN

CONCLUDING THAT APPELLANT WAS ONLY ENTITLED TO

RECOVER THE REGISTRATION FEES HE PAID WHEN HE

ACQUIRED THE VEHICLE.

Appellant first contends that the Court of Appeal erred in denying Appellant his post-lease registration fees by misconstruing subdivision (d)(2)(B) of Civil Code section 1793.2. He is incorrect.

1. <u>Interpretation Of Civil Code § 1793.2(d)(2)(B) Is One Of Simple Statutory Interpretation And Construction.</u>

The key to statutory interpretation involves application of rules of construction in proper sequence. *Halbert's Lumber, Inc. v. Lucky Stores, Inc.* (1992) 6 Cal.App.4th 1233, 1238. First, the actual language of the statute is examined, giving words their ordinary and everyday meaning. *Id.* If the words are reasonably free from ambiguity and uncertainty, you simply apply the given language. *Id.* at 1239; *Wingfield v. Fielder* (1972) 29 Cal.App.3d 209, 219. However, if the words are not clear, a second step is necessary to refer to the Legislative history. *Halbert's, supra*, at 1239. The final step only applies if the first two steps fail to reveal clear meaning, and that is to "apply reason, practicality, and common sense to the language at hand. If possible, the words should be interpreted to make them workable and reasonable, in accord with common sense and justice, and to avoid an absurd result." *Id.* at 1239-1240; *Jensen v. BMW of North America, Inc.* (1995) 35 Cal.App.4th 112, 122-123.

Applying these rules of construction, the Court of Appeal correctly interpreted the intent of the statutory phrases "actual price paid or payable by the buyer," and "including any collateral charges such as sales or use tax, license fees, registration fees, and other official fees...." As the Court of Appeal stated, post-lease registration fees do not fall within either of these statutory phrases, and "the wording and structure of the statute dictate otherwise." (Opinion at page 5.) This specific statute addresses vehicle restitution, which has a specific meaning, in the context of the phrase "actual price paid or payable by the buyer."

First, the term *restitution* was discussed in the case of *Mitchell v. Bluebird Body*Company (2000) 80 Cal.App.4th 32. There, that Court interpreted section 1793.2(d)(2)

of the Act with respect to the plaintiff's claim for finance interest. Although the court

noted that the Act did not expressly list finance charges as an item of recovery, it noted
that the Act expressly characterized the refund remedy as *restitution* which was "intended
to restore 'the *status quo ante* as far as is practicable." 80 Cal.App.4th at 36. Lastly, the
Court concluded:

"A more reasonable construction is that the Legislature intended to allow a buyer to recover the entire amount *actually expended for a new motor vehicle*, including paid finance charges, less any of the expenses expressly excluded by the statute..." *Id.* at 37.

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